STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Plaintiffs--developers, owners individually and as a class, and condominium associations--filed suit against the Property Appraiser for Indian River County, Florida (together with the Tax Collector for the County and the Executive Director of the Department of Revenue of the State of Florida), challenging the ad valorem assessments for taxable year 1983 of time-share interests in real property submitted to the condominium form of ownership.

The property involved is known as Oyster Pointe Resort, a condominium; the property was developed by Plaintiff, Oyster Pointe Associates, by construction of multiple family dwelling structures and related amenities; the property is managed by Plaintiff, Oyster Pointe Resort Condominium Association, Inc.; and is used and occupied by the individual Plaintiff, Donald J. Pinson, Jr., and the members of his class, purchasers of time-share interests (T 14-16; Defendants' [Joint] Exhibits in evidence 1 and 5). Oyster Pointe was committed to the condominium form of ownership in 1982 (T 100). Condominium documents for the project provide for the creation of time-share interests in the condominium units. The time-share interest is a term of years followed by a tenancy in common of the real property among all owners of time-share interests (Defendants' [Joint] Exhibits 1 and 5). So that 2,652 (T 102) tenants in common will own the land and improvements in the year 2023 (T 119, 120).

Oyster Pointe, located in the town of Sebastian, Florida, consists of fifty-two multiple family dwelling units, all identical in a townhouse layout, each having two bedrooms and one bathroom (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 20, pp. 12-17). On January 1, 1983, six units were whole ownership condominium units, while the process of fractionalizing the forty-six remaining units into time-share partial interests had begun (T 284). Construction of the

improvements which comprise the Oyster Pointe project was completed within thirty days prior to the assessment date here pertinent (T 83).

The Complaint alleged that the Defendant Property Appraiser had taken a developer's list of sales prices for weekly periods in the time-share sales program of a condominium regime, averaged the same for each condominium unit to which the time-share interests attached, multiplied the average obtained by fifty-one (the maximum number of sales of interests in each condominium unit) to arrive at the value of the unit and then had applied a uniform discount of 26% to arrive at a taxable value. (R 450-456; R 571-577).

Plaintiffs asserted that the valuation method followed by Defendant (1) represented assessment of partial ownership interests in property; (2) involved a misconstruction and application of §192.037, Fla. Stat. (1982); (3) included items other than real estate; and, because of excessive valuation (4) resulted in a discriminatory tax burden to be borne by Plaintiffs.

Amendment to the Complaint was allowed (R 466-473; 587-594) asserting that, if the assessment procedure which Defendant Property Appraiser's interpretation of §192.037, Fla. Stat. (1982) is that intended by the Legislature, the statute is unconstitutional because:

- (1) it denies the persons affected (owners of individual time-share interests) notice and an opportunity to be heard on the issue of the ad valorem tax burden they must bear;
- (2) it singles out a particular interest (time-share) in real property for such treatment, denying such interest protection against assessment and foreclosure granted all other interests in real property;
- (3) it is an unconstitutional delegation to a private party (the "managing entity" of a time-share development) of the duties of constitutional officers, the Property Appraiser and Tax Collector; and

(4) it permits a lien to be imposed on fractional interests in real property, and the consequent foreclosure and sale of such interests, even though the proportionate amount of tax due as to such interest may have been timely paid in full by the owner of the interest.

The Defendants, in effect, generally denied the allegations of the Complaint and amendment thereto (R 457-464; 475, 477-480 and R 578-585, 595-596, 598-601) and this case was consolidated with a companion case, now also pending before this Court (Oyster Bay II Owners¹ Assn. v. Nolte, Case No. 69,795) for non-jury trial.

For the tax year of 1983, Defendant Property Appraiser shifted his appraisal method for Oyster Pointe from a "cost" approach to value to a "market" approach (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, pp. 6 & 7). In making this change, the then Chief Deputy Appraiser took an average of a developer's list prices for time-share interests in each condominium unit (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, p. 9; T 99), multiplied the average by fifty-one (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, p. 10), took off 15% for "cost of sale" (as is done for every piece and type of property on the tax roll [Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, pp. 12 and 13]) and an additional 11% for personalty included in the list price (T, 366 and 367).

The assessment resulted in a valuation increased by more than tenfold over the prior year and over identical, adjoining, condominium units, the ownership of which had not been fragmented (T 366-367). There had been no change in Plaintiffs' land or improvements from one year to the next, but Plaintiff had engaged in the sale of time-share interests in some condominium units. In fact, some dwelling units on Plaintiffs' properties were assessed by Defendant at value of \$18,000 each, while identical improvements, immediately adjacent, "as like as peas in a pod," according to the Chief Deputy

Appraiser, were assessed at a value in excess of \$180,000 (T 90, T 366 and 367) for the tax year of 1983. The only distinction between the two physically identical units was that time-share interests existed in the latter units, but not in the former. The Defendant Property Appraiser based his actions on his reading and interpretation of Chapter 197.037(2), Florida Statutes, 1982, effective on January 1, 1983 (T 341).

The Defendant Property Appraiser relied solely on what his staff perceived to be the "market" (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, pp. 8, 15, 27 and T 353) and, basically, there were only original sales of time-share interests by a developer to work from in establishing a market (T 345, 346). At the period of time here involved, only some 24 to 26 resales (T 346) had occurred, as compared to thousands of original developer sales (T 345, 363).

The term and concept of "time-share" are recognized and regulated by Florida Statutes (e.g. Chapter 721, Florida Statutes, 1982; §192.001, §192.037, Florida Statutes, 1982). The term itself evolved from computer users' common sharing of personalty, expensive computer "hardware" (T 374). Use of the concept for vacation sales and a sharing of ownership is not limited to real property, but the ownership of personalty may be, and is, similarly fragmented (T 33).

The testimony at trial was uncontroverted that the sale price of time-share interests by a developer comprehended many other things than real property and tangible personal property: The sale has been described as being one of prepaid, perpetual hotel or vacation advance reservations (T 32, 33, 45, 179, 282; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 21, pp. 21 and 22); that an important element of the sale is the ability to exchange vacations from one resort and geographical area to another (Plaintiffs' Exhibits 17 & 18; T 36-38); that lending institutions recognize a developer's sale price as including items of

intangible value, not realizable as security or loan collateral, and so require discount to the realizable property element of sale (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 21, p. 22; T 139). The real property component of the sale price of time-share interests is 28% to 30% (T 191) or, according to Plaintiffs' appraiser, 22% to 25% of the gross sale price (T 246, 279-281); the bulk of the sale price is made up of factors, in a purchaser's view, other than real property (T 234-235; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 21, pp. 21-22).

Conversely, and in terms of the net proceeds of the sale of a time-share interest realized or received by a developer, the usual and reasonable fees and costs of sale, typical and peculiar to the sale of time-share interests and the nature of the item being sold, consume an extraordinary portion of the gross sales price (T 45-49; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 13). The reason for the high proportion of sale price devoted to customary and necessary costs of sale is the need to draw and make a sales presentation to a minimum of 10 prospects before a single sale can be made (T 43, 129) of a discrete ownership interest in a condominium unit. Thus, it was necessary, at Oyster Bay, instead of 370 sales presentations to sell 37 condominium apartments, for the developer to attract to Sebastian, Florida, and make personal sales presentations to 11,000 people in order to effect sales of 1,100 interests (43). The costs of sale (exclusive of costs of personalty and atypical financing included in the sale price), from those knowledgeable and experienced in the business, ranged from 56% (T 128-131) through 60% (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 13; T 68-91, 98) to 77% of the sale price (T 178-188). Plaintiffs' expert witness' appraisal, in its approach under §193.011(8), Fla. Stat. (1982), totaled usual and reasonable costs of sales and marketing, including personalty--but excluding the cost of atypical financing--at 77.5% and at a little more than 74% of the gross sale price in arriving at the net proceeds received by the sellers from sales of interests at Oyster Pointe and the companion resort property, Oyster Bay (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 20, pp. 37-44; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 21, pp. 41-46).

This testimony was buttressed by the testimony of a Certified Public Accountant who performed an independent audit of time-share sales for the year of 1983 (T 220). The independent accountant testified that, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (T 217), time-share interests returned to or recovered by a seller upon a buyer's default in purchase money financing must be valued and accounted for at the lower of their cost or market value (T 222- 223). Market value was established by the independent audit as being lower than cost (T 223) and market value of such recovered interests ranged from 18.22% (T 226) to 21.08% (T 224 - 225) of the developer's original sales price of a time-share interest. The Plaintiffs' financial records (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 13; T 74-81) bear out the accountant's findings. time-share interests is not typically for cash, but is usually on terms (T 54-55, 58, 131-132); institutional financing for purchasers is generally unavailable (T 53-54, 57, 132) so that the seller is obliged to finance the purchase (T 54, 59), discounting the paper received from purchasers (T 59) in order to generate cash for construction mortgage releases, all at considerable, and unusual, cost to the seller (T 132-133).

The Defendant Property Appraiser did not differ from or quarrel with Plaintiffs' testimony as to the usual and reasonable costs incurred in the sale of time-share interests (T 376-377).

Construction was completed at the Oyster Pointe development in December of 1982--less than thirty days prior to the applicable assessment date (T 83). Actual acquisition and construction costs for the project,

immediately prior to Defendant Appraiser's assessment, were a fraction of Defendant's assessed values (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15); these costs were not disputed and the uncontroverted testimony was that the replacement cost approach to value ordinarily establishes the high point in a range of values (T 237).

The testimony of Plaintiffs' expert appraisal witness was that, while the Oyster Pointe project was assessed for the year of 1983 at \$9,996,440 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 20, p. 19), its proper value for ad valorem purposes should have been \$2,340,000 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 20, second page of introductory letter of transmittal).

Following two days of trial, the trial court, by Amended Final Judgment (R 551-556), found, in pertinent part:

- (1) All condominium units had been "declared to time-share use" (Paragraph 6);
- (2) The assessment process followed by Defendant Property Appraiser was proper (Paragraphs 9 and 10).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, on the authority of <u>Spanish River</u>

<u>Resort Corp. v. Walker</u>, 497 So.2d 1299 (Fla 4th DCA 1986), affirmed the trial court and certified to this Court the following guestions:

- 1. Under the facts of this case, was the property appraiser correct in assessing each individual time-share "week" or should that assessment have been restricted to the fair market value of the entire condominium apartment unit without reference to its subdivision into time-share interests?
- 2. Are we correct in upholding the constitutionality of Section 192.037?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the ad valorem tax year of 1983, Defendant Property Appraiser interpreted §192.037(2), Fla. Stat. (1982) (effective January 1, 1983) to authorize assessment of an <u>interest</u> in property as the unit of value, rather than the property itself. He did this by grossing up sale prices of time-share <u>interests</u> in various condominium units to derive an assessed value many fold greater than the value of land, buildings and improvements to which a myriad of the ownership interests he valued attach.

The decision below affirmed the Defendant's reading of the statute. The Defendant's interpretation, in addition to being forced and unnatural, flies in the face of the plain language and intent of the balance of Chapter 192, Fla. Stat. (1982); bases a valuation and tax on ownership interests in the subject of the tax, rather than on the taxable <u>res</u> itself, through what is not explicit in the statute (and may well not even be implicit) but is, at best, ambiguous.

Because of the results necessitated by Defendants' interpretation of \$192.037, Fla. Stat. (1982), application of that statute denies the owners of the property interests which Defendants would define as the <u>res</u> of assessment and tax, notice of assessment afforded all other ad valorem owners and an opportunity to protest and be heard on assessment and taxation before becoming delinquent and subject to penalty. This denial of due process and equality under the tax laws, together with delegation of a constitutional officer's (Tax Collector's) duties and functions to a private entity in collecting and paying ad valorem taxes, renders §192.037, Fla. Stat. (1982) unconstitutional.

Finally, even were the Defendant's statutory interpretation of the unit to be valued correct, the challenged assessments are invalid for the Defendant's failure to consider or take into account the net proceeds of sale derived by the developer seller after allowance of the customary and reasonable costs of effecting the sale. Although the Defendant Property Appraiser relied solely on list prices of a developer in applying a market approach to value, he failed entirely to allow the extraordinary sales costs mandated to be accounted for by §193.011(8), Fla. Stat. (1982) in the case of developer sales, which he conceded to have been actually and usually incurred.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE, WAS THE PROPERTY APPRAISER CORRECT IN ASSESSING EACH INDIVIDUAL TIME-SHARE "WEEK" OR SHOULD THAT ASSESSMENT HAVE BEEN RESTRICTED TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE ENTIRE TIME-SHARE DEVELOPMENT OR OF THE ENTIRE CONDOMINIUM APARTMENT UNIT WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ITS SUBDIVISION INTO TIME-SHARE INTERESTS?

The District Court of Appeal, in the first sentence of its decision in Spanish River Resort Corp. v. Walker, 497 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1986) (decided simultaneously with, and deemed dispositive of, the instant case) poses the problem before it as: whether the Appraiser is " ... to assess each individual time-share unit ... or the value of the entire unit as if it were still an ordinary condominium apartment" To phrase the query thus is to beg the real question: What is the proper subject or res of assessment and tax?

The court below decided the question it posed itself on what it perceived to be a <u>fee</u> interest. The question remains, however, whether the item appraised is a <u>fee</u> interest in property or the property itself: which is the proper unit of valuation?

Plaintiffs have never contended that "time-share" could not represent an interest in real property, whether being an estate in fee or otherwise. However, a discrete <u>interest</u> in a physical, spatial piece of real property, is not, of itself, a separate piece of real property. And therein lies Plaintiffs' point. The lower court's strained reading of legislative intent, by use of the word <u>fee</u> to describe an interest in real property in §192.037, Fla. Stat. (1982), is an attempt to value and tax the <u>interest</u> in the real property, rather than the real property itself. The legislature's use of the word "fee" does nothing to resolve the question of what the proper and intended object and unit of

valuation and tax is to be. It cannot be, and is not, argued that the interests in real property here at issue are other than terms for years which, at most, will ripen into tenancies in common at a fixed point in time.

The provisions of Florida's tax law giving rise to these proceedings were enacted in 1982 to become effective for 1983 and are found in Florida Statutes, Chapter 192 [§192.001, Fla. Stat. (1982)].

§192.001(14), Fla. Stat. (1982), defines "fee time-share real property," as "the <u>land and buildings and other improvements to land</u> that are subject to time-share interests which are sold as a fee interest in real property."

§192.037(2), Fla. Stat. (1982), then provides: "Fee time-share real property shall be listed on the assessment rolls as a <u>single entry</u> for each time-share development. The assessed value of each time-share development shall be the value of the combined individual time-share periods or time-share estates contained therein."

The Property Appraiser took the last quoted statute to authorize a change in the method of assessment of existing time-share resorts from a replacement cost approach of valuing land, buildings and improvements for the prior tax year (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, p. 6) to a valuation, for 1983, of each <u>potential</u> time-share interest in the land, buildings and improvements (regardless of the value of the latter), then multiplying each such interest by the maximum possible number of the same to arrive at the "single entry" on the assessment rolls. (T 340, 341; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 24, pp. 10 and 12). The result of this approach was a ten fold difference between assessed values of identical properties, depending on the structure of their ownership (T 90, 366).

The statutes involved are, concededly, not models of clarity. This was

acknowledged by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Spanish River Resort Corp. v. Walker</u>, 497 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). However, basic principles of statutory construction to determine legislative intent and application of tax law demonstrate the error of the Property Appraiser and of the trial court in valuing the properties here involved.

Recognizing that "the power to tax ... is the power to destroy", C. D. Utility Corporation v. Maxwell, 189 So.2d 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966), Article IX, Section 3, of Florida's Constitution prohibits the levy of any tax except pursuant to law. Therefore, tax assessment laws are to be strictly construed against the taxing authorities and in favor of the taxpayer, ... " and any ambiguity or doubt must be resolved in favor of the person upon whom it is sought to impose the tax burden." C. D. Utility Corporation v. Maxwell, ld.; City of Miami v. Schonfeld, 132 So.2d 767 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961). hoary principle establishes the premise on which any reading of the tax laws must be based. If the law is "susceptible of two meanings, that meaning most favorable to the taxpayer should be adopted." Walgreen Drug Stores Co. v. Lee, 158 Fla. 260, 28 So.2d 535 @ 536 (1946). "Taxes cannot be imposed except in clear, unequivocal language. Taxation by implication does not exist." Florida S & L Services v. Dept. of Revenue, 443 So.2d 120 @ 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), quoting, with approval, 1967-1968 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 068-62 (April 19, 1968).

"It is not within the power of taxing offices or this court to say who shall be taxed or to impose a tax on any person or class unless the Legislature in clear and specific terms authorizes the tax." Overstreet v. Ty-Tan, Inc., 48 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1950). Similarly, Lewis v. Mosley, 204 So.2d 197 (Fla. 1967).

A parallel principle of construction requires a reading of legislative enactments which makes their application constitutional in effect. Bystrom v.

Valencia Center, Inc., 432 So.2d 108 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

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