01A9-1-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

OYSTER POINTE RESORTE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., Etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

DAVID C. NOLTE, Etc., et al.,

Respondents. /

OYSTER BAY II OWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., Etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

DAVID C. NOLTE, Etc., et al.,

Respondents. /

FILED  
JUN 12 1987  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
CASE NO. 69,794  
BY  
Deputy Clerk

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal,  
State of Florida, Case Nos. 85-1290 and 85-1291

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE RESPONDENT,  
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

J. TERRELL WILLIAMS  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

The district court found that the income capitalization method put forward by Xerox was a better method of determining market value than the list-price-less-depreciation method used by the property appraiser. On the basis of this perceived superiority of one method over the other, the district court held that the income capitalization method should have been used. But see Xerox Corp. v. Blake, 415 So.2d at 1311 (Pearson, J., concurring) (income capitalization was the only possible legally correct method). We find that the district court applied an erroneous standard of review and we therefore quash the district court's decision.

\* \* \* \* \*

. . . Although the trial court appears to have grounded its judgment on the finding that Xerox had failed to prove that its method was superior, this finding was unnecessary to the judgment. Regardless of which method was theoretically superior, the trial court was bound to uphold the appraiser's determination if it was lawfully arrived at and within the range of reasonable appraisals, that is, if it was supported by any reasonable hypothesis of legality.

Like the trial court, the district court addressed the merits of the question of which method was theoretically superior, and simply disagreed with the trial court's determination. Although the trial court's determination was based in part on a finding that the property appraiser's method was the better one, the judgment should have been affirmed simply on the ground that the property appraiser's determination, having been lawfully arrived at and being supported by a reasonable hypothesis of correctness, was

properly upheld. Homer v. Dadeland Shopping Center, Inc., 229 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1969). The size or scope of the sales market for Xerox copying machines should not have been regarded by the district court as determinative. The trial court found that there was a sufficient sales market to render the appraiser's method reasonable.

\* \* \* \* \*

The district court may have been correct in concluding that the income capitalization method was the better method for determining market value, but that was not the legal question presented. (e.s.)

The holding of the Xerox v. Blake case has been followed by the district courts of Florida in the recent cases of Bystrom v. Bal Harbour 101 Condominium Association, Inc., 502 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987); Vero Beach Shores, Inc. v. Nolte, 467 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); and Daniel v. Canterbury Towers, Inc., 462 So.2d 497 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984). The Bal Harbour decision represents the latest known opinion of the appellate courts of this state dealing with the presumptions and burdens of proof applicable to an action challenging the validity of an ad valorem tax assessment.

In the Bal Harbour case, the property appraiser's assessments of the individual condominium units were overturned by the trial court. However, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court and reinstated the property appraiser's valuations for all of the units in the Bal Harbour 101 Condominium. The taxpayer claimed that the property appraiser had merely increased last year's assessments on all of the condominium units by a flat percentage increase. The property

appraiser presented evidence that the assessments were based on prior sales of similar units in the same building.

The Bal Harbour opinion contains a detailed review of the recent appellate court decisions of Florida dealing with the legal requirements for overturning a tax assessment as follows:

Since the Appraiser substantially complied with section 193.011, his valuation is entitled to the same presumption of correctness on appeal of the trial court's judgment as it was below. Markham v. June Rose, 495 So.2d 865 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); see also Nolte, 467 So.2d at 1041. Therefore, the mere fact that the taxpayers disagree with either the weight to be accorded each factor or the method to be utilized in arriving at the valuation of the property is not a sufficient reason to overturn the Appraiser's valuation. See Blake v. Xerox Corp., 447 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1984) (method of valuation is within discretion of appraiser so long as the determination is lawfully arrived at and within the reasonable range of appraisals); Bath Club, Inc. v. Dade County, 394 So.2d 110 (Fla. 1981) (weight accorded to each factor in assessing value is within the discretion of appraiser); Straughn v. Tuck, 354 So.2d 368 (Fla. 1977) (same); Daniel v. Canterbury Towers, Inc., 462 So.2d 497 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (weight accorded each factor and method used to reach valuation within appraiser's discretion); Blake v. Oceancoast Corp., 417 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 424 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1982) (weight accorded each factor within appraiser's discretion); Bystrom v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc'y of the United States, 416 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (method used in valuation within discretion of appraiser), review denied, 429 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1983).

The taxpayers had the burden of presenting proof which excluded "every reasonable hypothesis of a legal assessment." Calder Race Course, Inc. v. Overstreet, 363 So.2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). The taxpayers failed to demonstrate that the valuation reached by the Appraiser was outside of the range of reasonable hypothesis. In fact, the appellees' own expert testified that if he

reduced the amounts attributable to personal property in his own valuation, then the valuation reached by the Appraiser could fall within the expert's own valuation range. The expert further testified that the assessment of personal property is a judgment call. This type of judgment is within the Appraiser's discretion in valuing property for ad valorem tax purposes and should not be overturned absent proof that the Appraiser's valuation was arbitrary and unsupported by any reasonable hypothesis. See Xerox, 447 So.2d at 1350 (if assessment is within the range of reasonable appraisals it will be upheld); Powell v. Kelly, 223 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1969) (appraisal of real estate is an art not a science); Bystrom v. Bloom, 472 So.2d 819 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (though a lower valuation under the circumstances might be more reasonable, the appraiser's valuation will not be disturbed absent a showing that it was arbitrary and had no reasonable basis), review denied, 482 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, the trial court erred in overturning the Appraiser's valuation. . . . (e.s.).

Id. at pages 1313-1314.

The appellate courts of Florida have even held that proof by taxpayers that the property appraisers' methodology was erroneous does not, of itself, entitle the taxpayers to any relief in an ad valorem tax challenge. See, Bystrom v. Whitman, 488 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1986); and City National Bank of Miami v. Blake, 257 So.2d 264 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972).

In the City National Bank case, Id. , the district court stated on page 266 of the opinion as follows:

. . . Based upon a virtual presumption of validity accorded to governmental decisions, the taxpayer in a court proceeding challenging the discretion of a tax assessor assumes a large burden. See: Markham v. Friedland, Fla. App. 1971, 245 So.2d 645. A tax assessment is presumed correct, and in order to successfully challenge it, the taxpayer must present proof which excludes every reasonable hypothesis of a legal

assessment. That is, an assessor may reach a correct result for the wrong reason. (e.s.)

In Bystrom v. Whitman, supra, this Court recently observed that:

We begin our analysis by noting the general proposition that the core issue in any action challenging a tax assessment is the amount of the assessment, not the methodology utilized in arriving at the valuation. Homer v. Connecticut General Life Insurance Co., 213 So.2d 490 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). An appraiser may reach a correct result for the wrong reason. City of National Bank v. Blake, 257 So.2d 264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972). (e.s.)

Id., at 521.

The citations from the above cases clearly establish that testimony by expert witnesses on behalf of the taxpayers as to their disagreement with the methodology used by the property appraiser is not sufficient to overcome the presumption of correctness accorded to the assessment. A taxpayer must affirmatively and clearly demonstrate that the property appraiser's ultimate valuation is so excessive as to be beyond the range of reasonable appraisals. Since the Property Appraiser's valuations in this case were based on the list or actual sales prices (less deductions required by s. 193.011(8), F.S.), the Taxpayers here have obviously failed to demonstrate that such valuations were totally arbitrary under the holdings of this Court in Blake v. Xerox, supra, and Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. County of Dade, 275 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1973).

The Taxpayers are not satisfied with the 26% adjustment made by the Property Appraiser to the sales prices of the fee time-share estates to reflect the "reasonable costs of sale" and other items under subsection 193.011(8). The Taxpayers have the

audacity to suggest to the courts of Florida that they are entitled to an approximately 80% discount off the list or sale prices of comparable fee time-share estates to account for alleged unusually high "marketing expenses" and "atypical" financing costs.

However, it is only when financing is demonstrated to have an effect on the price that any adjustments should be made to recorded sales prices for atypical financing terms. See, Bystrom v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 416 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), at 1144, Headnote 17. The evidence presented at trial failed to establish that the costs of sale and financing terms of the fee time-share estates at Oyster Pointe and Oyster Bay were substantially different than those incurred at any other fee time-share project.

The Taxpayers' argument under Point III implies that the fair market value of the fee time-share estates is decreased by the marketing expenses involved in selling them. There is no legal precedent in this state to support such contention. To the contrary, the Florida Supreme Court has held that the price at which property sold, as indicated by documentary stamps on the instrument, is prima facie evidence of its value. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. County of Dade, supra, at page 7. This is particularly true when, as here, there is no evidence of record that the Taxpayers have filed the form mandated by s. 195.027(6) to indicate that the costs and expenses of sale or terms of financing are unusual.

The Taxpayers' incredible claim that approximately 75-80% of the purchase price of a fee time-share estate should be excluded under s. 193.011(8) from the ad valorem appraisal process because of the high "marketing expenses" and "atypical financing costs" was rejected by the trial court which ruled in the amended final judgment below, with respect to s. 193.011(8), that:

It is the Court's opinion under Florida Statutes 193.011, subsection 8, the Legislature did not intend that marketing, sales' commissions, and other expenses be allowed as deductions for ad valorem tax purposes but intended only to allow normal and reasonable costs of closing real estate transactions. (A. 4).

The conclusion that the term "reasonable fees and costs of sale" within the contemplation of s. 193.011(8) is limited to reasonable fees and costs typically associated with the closing of the sale of real property (such as brokers' commissions, title insurance fees, survey and appraisal costs, etc.), was expressly endorsed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in its detailed opinion in the Spanish River Resort case, as follows:

Moreover, as succinctly stated in a recent excellent law review article on the subject:

Florida's time-share assessment statute does not specifically recognize the marketing costs associated with selling time-share properties. Florida Statute section 193.011(8), however, does specify that the property appraiser must consider the net proceeds derived from the real property sale after "deduction of all of the usual and reasonable fees and costs of the sale." Such usual and reasonable fees and costs typically include reasonable attorney's fees, broker's commissions, documentary stamp costs, survey costs, appraisal fees, and title insurance costs. Internal expenditures such as marketing costs are



generally not included within the scope of this section. **Thus, the Florida real property assessment statutes do not recognize the exorbitant internal expenditures incurred while marketing time-share properties.** (emphasis supplied.)

Note, Ad Valorem Taxation of Time-Share Properties: Should Time-Share Estates be Separately Assessed and Taxed? 37 U.Fla.L.Rev. 421, 436 (1985).

Finally, on the appraisal question, the "cost of the sale" criterion should not be over-emphasized. If comparable sales establish the market value of two identical properties, we know of no court decision which would allow the **buyer** of the first parcel to insist on a value 55% less than the second, because the **seller** of the former parcel chose to expend an inflated percentage sum to market his property in order to obtain a purchaser. This eighth criterion in section 193.011 must be read in pari materia with the first which limits the consideration of sales cost to "**reasonable fees and costs of purchase.**" (emphasis supplied).

Id., at page 1304.

The Department is aware of the language relating to "marketing expenses" contained in the opinion of the district court in the case of Hausman v. VTSI, Inc., 482 So.2d 428 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), rev. den., 492 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 1986).

However, the Department submits that the more restrictive interpretation of s. 193.011(8) set forth in the Spanish River Resort opinion constitutes the better reasoned judicial analysis because this ruling is more consistent with both principles of statutory construction and generally accepted practices in the real estate industry. Thus, if the Hausman decision is viewed as still viable case law with respect to the application of s. 193.011(8), the Department requests that this Court expressly

adopt the rationale of the Spanish River Resort opinion limiting the "reasonable fees and costs of sale" language of s. 193.011 to the standard closing costs in general acceptance among real estate brokers and real property appraisers.

In closing, the Department submits that the Taxpayers are really asking this Court to amend, by judicial fiat, the critical language in s. 193.011(8), to insert their preferred terminology "all marketing expenses" in lieu of the statutory terminology "usual and reasonable fees and costs of the sale." However, it is a well recognized rule of statutory construction that, in reviewing statutory language, the courts are not free to add words to steer a statute to a meaning which its plain wording does not supply; and when there is doubt as to the legislative intent, or when speculation is necessary, the doubt should be resolved against the power of the court to supply missing words. See, 49 Fla. Jur.2d, Statutes, s. 120.

If the Legislature had intended that "all marketing expenses" of the seller should be deducted under s. 193.011(8) in arriving at the net proceeds of the sale, then it would have been a simple matter for the Legislature to have utilized this critical terminology in the statute instead of the language "usual and reasonable fees and costs of sale." Consequently, the Taxpayers requested judicial amendment to the statutory language of s. 193.011(8) should be rejected by this Court.

POINT IV

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT  
SHOULD NOT BE REVERSED IN PART BASED  
ON AN ISSUE NOT PRESENTED TO THE  
DISTRICT COURT FOR ADJUDICATION.

Stated in the Initial Brief of the Taxpayers as:

THE COURT ERRED AS TO THIS PLAINTIFF BY  
FINDING AND DETERMINING THAT FIFTY-TWO  
MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING UNITS WOULD BE  
ASSESSED FOR 1983 AD VALOREM TAX PURPOSES  
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF S. 192.037,  
FLA. STAT., (1982), WHEN ON JANUARY 1, 1983,  
SIX UNITS WERE COMPLETED AND WERE WHOLE  
ONWERSHIP CONDOMINIUM UNITS IN WHICH NO  
TIME-SHARE INTERESTS HAD BEEN CREATED.

In the separate brief filed in Oyster Point Resort Condominium v. Nolte, Case No. 69,794, the Petitioners, for the first time on appeal, raise a purely factual issue in Point IV which was not presented to the District Court below. Included in the Appendix to the Department's Answer Brief is a copy of the Table of Contents to the Initial Brief of the Appellants filed in the District Court establishing that the Petitioners failed to present this issue to the district court for consideration. (A. 10).

It is a basic rule of appellate review that the Florida Supreme Court will not pass upon matters not raised and adjudicated in the lower courts. See, 3 Fla. Jur.2d, Appellate Review, s. 512; and Revitz v. Baya, 355 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1977). Consequently, this issue belatedly raised by Petitioners should be summarily rejected by this Court.

## CONCLUSION

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